FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/5/2022 11:30 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/5/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 55391-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

City of Tacoma, a Washington Municipal Corporation, through its Finance Department, Tax & License Division; and City of Tacoma, Office of the Hearing Examiner,

Respondents,

v.

Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregg Barton, WSBA No. 17022 David T. Martin, WSBA No. 50160 **PERKINS COIE LLP**

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900

Seattle, WA 98101-3099

Telephone: 206.359.8000 Facsimile: 206.359.9000

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc. ("SIP") asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision at issue was published by Division Two of the Court of Appeals on April 5, 2022. *See Sound Inpatient Physicians, Inc. v. City of Tacoma*, --- P.3d ---, 2022 WL 1013331 (April 5, 2022). A copy of the decision ("Op.") is in the Appendix at pages A-2 through A-15.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the 233 percent disparity in the overall apportionment factor between using SIP's actual Tacoma service income and the service income Tacoma deemed in the City raises significant questions under the United States Constitution?

- 2. Whether that constitutional infirmity arises from the Court of Appeals' misinterpretation of the statutory language in two respects, one of which is in conflict with a published decision by Division One?
- 3. Whether the real-world effects of the Court of Appeals' decision, including a complete lack of guidance or guardrails for taxpayers and taxing jurisdictions apportioning income, raises practical problems of substantial public importance?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case implicates the apportionment of SIP's income for purposes of measuring the business and occupation taxes (i.e., "B&O" or "gross receipts" taxes) owed to the City of Tacoma.

A. B&O Tax Apportionment

During the time period at issue, 2013 to 2017,
Washington permitted cities to impose a B&O (i.e., gross receipts) tax only by allocating and apportioning it in strict

accordance with RCW 35.102.130. Fairly apportioning taxes to reflect the amount of business done in the taxing jurisdiction, as opposed to in other jurisdictions, is compelled both by statute and by the federal Constitution.

Tacoma, like many other cities in Washington, enacted B&O tax laws that adopted verbatim the required allocation and apportionment from State law. Tacoma Mun. Code ("TMC") ch. 6A.30 (enacting RCW 35.102.130 as a city ordinance). For ease of reference, this petition (like the Court of Appeals' decision) focuses on the state law provisions. Op. at 4 n.2.

Jurisdictions use a variety of factors to fairly apportion taxes. Washington cities use two equally weighted factors:

• **service income**, which represents the proportion of service income in the city, RCW 35.102.130(3)(b); and

¹ The parties and the Court of Appeals agree that the 2017 version of RCW 35.102.130, appended at A-16 to A-18, applies to this case. Op. at 5 n.3. The citations herein are to that version of the statute.

• payroll, which represents the proportion of compensation the taxpayer paid in the taxing jurisdiction. RCW 35.102.130(3)(a).

By averaging the proportion of service income in the taxing jurisdiction and the proportion of payroll paid in the taxing jurisdiction, the taxing jurisdiction attempts to fairly apportion income to itself as opposed to other jurisdictions in which the company engages in business.

The dispute here is over how to apportion SIP's service income and whether the resulting, overall apportionment was constitutional.² Washington law prescribed how to determine whether service income was in Tacoma:

Service income is in the city if:

- (i) The **customer location** is in the city; or
- (ii) The income-producing activity is performed in more than one location and a greater proportion of the service-incomeproducing activity is performed in the city

² The parties agree on SIP's payroll factor, which ranged from 26.38 percent to 50.86 percent. CP 121-22.

than in any other location, based on costs of performance, and the taxpayer is **not taxable** at the customer location; or

(iii) The service-income-producing activity is performed within the city, and the taxpayer is **not taxable in the customer location**.

RCW 35.102.130(3)(b) (emphasis added). The terms bolded above are defined in the statute:

- "Customer location" means where most of the physical contacts between the taxpayer and the customer take place. RCW 35.102.130(4)(d); *Wedbush Securities, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 189 Wn. App. 360, 364 66, 358 P.3d 422 (2015).
- "Taxable in the customer location" means that the taxpayer is either actually subject to a gross receipts tax in the customer location, or that the customer location's government "has the authority to subject the taxpayer" to a gross receipts tax. RCW 35.102.130(4)(h).

The City took the position that it was entitled to choose between clauses (i), (ii), and (iii). It chose clause (ii), and even

though SIP engaged in business throughout the country and had a geographically broad footprint and customer base, discussed below, Tacoma deemed every dollar of SIP's service income in Tacoma.

B. SIP's Operations

SIP provides managerial and administrative services to groups of doctors and other medical professionals. CP 113, 233.³ SIP's customers during the relevant timeframe—66 medical practices in 39 states—in turn served hospitals and skilled nursing facilities. CP 114, 120, 136, 234-35.

It is uncontested that most of SIP's activity for which it earned fees from customers occurred outside Tacoma.

CP 613-15. More of its employees worked outside Tacoma

(61.25 percent) than in Tacoma (38.75 percent), many of SIP's

³ The Hearing Examiner numbered the Administrative Record by stamping "CP###" in bold font in the bottom-right corner of the page, whereas the Superior Court paginated the Clerk's Papers in the bottom-center of the page, without the "CP" and not in bold font. This petition, like the merits briefing on appeal, cites to the Superior Court's pagination.

Tacoma-based employees traveled to SIP's customers outside Tacoma to perform SIP's services on a transitory basis, and next-to-none of SIP's customers received services in Tacoma. CP 613-15.

SIP provided its services through approximately 1,000 general and administrative employees, who worked in approximately 42 states. CP 115, 235. Approximately 700 of the 1,000 employees worked outside of Tacoma, although that number fluctuated over time. CP 354-56. The approximately 300 employees working in Tacoma were accounted for in SIP's "payroll factor," which comprises half of the statutory apportionment formula and ranged from approximately one-quarter (26.38 percent) to approximately one-half (50.86 percent). CP 121-22.

SIP was contractually obligated to provide all managerial and administrative services required for the operation of its customers' medical practices. CP 114, 234. In-person interactions between SIP and its customers comprised a major

component of SIP's services. Those physical customer contacts occurred in the following settings:

- Providing training and development for customers' employees at regional and national conferences throughout the country;
- Serving as "hospital liaisons" at hospitals and skilled nursing facilities where the medical practices provided services; and
- Onboarding new physician hires by medical practices in major cities.

CP 115-16, 236-38.

Customer contact rarely occurred in Tacoma. CP 115-18, 236-38. None of the 66 medical practices were in Tacoma, and until 2016, none of the medical practices provided services in Tacoma. CP 114. In the second quarter of 2016, one of the medical practices began serving two Tacoma facilities, and a few of SIP's customers' employees were assigned to those facilities. CP 114, 235. That continued in 2017, but otherwise

neither SIP's customers (medical practices) nor its customers' customers (hospitals and nursing facilities) were in Tacoma. Six of the 92 training events, and none of the national conferences, took place in Tacoma. CP 237.

C. Procedural Background

In 2018, SIP discovered that it had overstated the proportion of its income from Tacoma, and thus overpaid B&O taxes to the City, for the years 2013 to 2017. CP 120-21. The City denied SIP's refund request and SIP appealed to the Hearing Examiner, requesting a refund of \$964,766. CP 121. The Hearing Examiner ruled for the City. CP 650-65.

SIP filed a writ of review in Pierce County Superior

Court under RCW 7.16.120. The Superior Court reversed the

Hearing Examiner's decision. Adhering to Division One's

statutory construction in *Wedbush Securities, Inc. v. City of*Seattle, 189 Wn. App. 360, 358 P.3d 422 (2015), the Superior

Court held that RCW 35.102.130(3)(b) is a cascading hierarchy.

RP 24-25. Because SIP has physical contact with its customers,

clause (i) applied to the exclusion of clauses (ii) and (iii), and the Superior Court reversed the Department's application of clause (ii). *Id.* at 25.

The City appealed, and the Court of Appeals (Division Two) reversed. See generally Op. The Court of Appeals rejected both SIP's position that Division One and the Superior Court correctly construed the clauses as a cascading hierarchy, and the City's position that the clauses are pure alternatives. Instead, the Court construed the clauses as alternatives "that the legislature intended should be selected based on which alternative most fairly apportions service income." *Id.* at 10. The Court of Appeals also held that SIP is not "taxable in the customer location[s]" outside of Tacoma because the state legislatures for the other jurisdictions—though they had the constitutional authority to tax SIP—had not "explicitly authorized imposition of a gross receipts tax." *Id.* at 11. Finally, the Court of Appeals held that its decision and Tacoma's apportionment of SIP's income comport with the Commerce

Clause because they "would not result in multiple taxation" and "reflect a reasonable sense of how income is generated." *Id*. at 12, 13.

V. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision raises serious questions under the United States Constitution, misconstrues Washington law in a manner irreconcilable with a Division One decision construing the same statute, and causes significant, untenable practical challenges for taxpayers and taxing jurisdictions.

Each of those flaws warrants resolution by this Court.

Taxing jurisdictions and taxpayers alike deserve clarity and constitutionality.

A. Tacoma's 233 percent increase of the total apportionment factor as compared to SIP's actual Tacoma service income raises significant questions under the United States Constitution.

Neither SIP nor the City advocated the interpretation of Washington's B&O tax scheme reached by the Court of

Appeals. *See* Op. at 12-13.⁴ Independently construing the statute was the Court's prerogative, but unaided by the adversarial process, the Court of Appeals erred: its terse constitutional analysis of its novel interpretation misapplies settled law.

1. Tacoma's apportionment violates the Commerce Clause.

"The federal constitution's commerce clause—preserving to Congress the authority to regulate interstate commerce—may, by negative implication, render a local tax regulation unconstitutional if the regulation has the effect of burdening interstate commerce with the risk of multiple taxation."

Avanade, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn. App. 290, 301, 211

P.3d 476 (2009). Courts determine whether a tax is fairly

⁴ The Court of Appeals' effort to reconcile its construction with the City's position only confirms that it was charting its own course. Op. at 8 n.5. Even in the excerpts of briefing quoted by the Court, the City advocated discretion to choose between the three methods—not the nebulous "most fair" standard announced by the Court of Appeals.

apportioned by examining whether it is "externally" and "internally" consistent. *Goldberg v. Sweet*, 488 U.S. 252, 261 (1989).

The Court of Appeals' interpretation fails the external consistency test. Boiled down, that inquiry asks whether the taxing jurisdiction is receiving more than its fair share. More specifically, "[t]he external consistency test asks whether the State has taxed only that portion of the revenues from the interstate activity which reasonably reflects the in-state component of the activity being taxed." KMS Fin. Servs., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 135 Wn. App. 489, 504, 146 P.3d 1195 (2006) (quoting Goldberg, 488 U.S. at 261). Apportionment fails the external consistency test when it is "out of all appropriate proportion to the business transacted" in the taxing jurisdiction. Id. at 505 (quoting Hans Rees' Sons, Inc. v. North Carolina, 283 U.S. 123, 135 (1931)). That is the case here.

The Supreme Court has prescribed how to determine the distortive effect of a single factor in a multi-factor

apportionment formula: by "comparing the percentage differences between the application of different methodologies." Hellerstein, State Taxation ¶ 8.16[5]. Most of SIP's activity for which it earned its fees from its customers occurred outside Tacoma. CP 613-14. The proportion of SIP's payroll in Tacoma never exceeded 51 percent, CP 121-22, and SIP had next-to-no customers in Tacoma. CP 114-18, 235-38. The City concedes that "not all of SIP's service income was generated in Tacoma." Opening Br. at 6. Yet it deemed 100 percent of SIP's service income "in the city," which caused more than 60 percent (and as much as 75 percent) of SIP's income to be apportioned to Tacoma every year at issue. CP 229.

The City's apportionment is unconstitutionally distortive as compared to SIP's actual service income in Tacoma. In no way does apportioning to Tacoma three-fifths to three-quarters of SIP's income "reasonably reflect[] the in-[city] component of the activity being taxed" or "a reasonable sense of how income

is generated." *City of Seattle v. KMS Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 491, 502-03, 459 P.3d 359 (2020) (*KMS II*) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). SIP's actual service income in Tacoma was \$8,756,516 for 2017; \$5,204,514 for 2016; and zero for the other years—making the City's overall apportionment increase 233 percent as compared to the use of SIP's actual Tacoma service income. CP 725.⁵

Several examples illustrate that the discrepancy here is unconstitutional:

⁵ The Court of Appeals was just wrong when it stated that SIP "failed to produce evidence" showing that its income-producing activity is performed outside the city. Op. at 13 n.6; see CP 114-23, 235-38, 613-15, 635 (declarations explaining the scope of income-producing activity in versus outside of Tacoma). Furthermore, it is statutorily incorrect to equate income-producing activity with a requirement to show costs by location. Finally, in addition to its declarations reflecting the extent of activity outside Tacoma, cited above, the declaration at CP 725 and the schedule attached thereto, at CP 728, calculated SIP's "revenues from Tacoma" and used "numbers already in the record" to compute "the percentage increase between the City of Tacoma's statutory method of apportionment using costs of performance . . . and the apportionment result under the statutory method but using SIP's actual revenues or service income." CP 725.

- "[T]he U.S. Supreme Court in [Container Corp. of

 America v. California Franchise Tax Board, 463 U.S.

 159 (1983)] noted that 'the percentage increase in taxable income attributable to California between the methodology employed by appellant and the methodology employed by appellee comes to approximately 14%, a far cry from the more than 250% difference which led us to strike down the state tax in

 Hans Rees' Sons, Inc." Hellerstein, State Taxation

 ¶ 8.16[5].
- In another decision, the actual value of rolling stock in Missouri was only 3.16 percent whereas using the statutory method, the commission determined that 8.28 percent was located in Missouri, and the Court held that this 162 percent increase violated the Constitution.⁷

 $^{^{6}}$ (80% - 21.7%) / 21.7% = 268%. *Hans Rees* ', 283 U.S. at 134. 7 (8.28% - 3.16%) / 3.16% = 162%.

Norfolk & W. Ry. Co. v. Mo. State Tax Comm'n, 390 U.S. 317 (1968).

In KMS II, discussed above, there was a 267 percent increase. KMS II, No. 78946-5-I, 2018 WL 6834777, at
 *21 (Dec. 14, 2018) (Appellant's Brief).8

The Court of Appeals did not address those decisions or perform the analysis they require. Instead, it simply recited the factors used by the City to determine SIP's cost of performance and deemed them to "reflect a reasonable sense of how income is generated." Op. at 13. But SIP was engaged in business in at least 42 states. CP 115, 235. Deeming all of its service income in Tacoma does not reasonably reflect where and how SIP generated its income. Fair apportionment must assign income amongst the states in which the taxpayer does business—not just one state (and city). The external consistency test looks to outcome, not process, and here the 233 percent increase in the

^{8 (55% - 15%) / 15% = 267%.}

overall apportionment factor when using SIP's actual service income in Tacoma compared to the deemed service income used by Tacoma shows significant distortion. That disparity is unconstitutional.

In any event, the unconstitutional outcome flows directly from the City's process. Tacoma ignored SIP's income-generating activity outside Tacoma and its customers' locations outside Tacoma, and effectively just double-counted SIP's substantial payroll expenses. It then took an all-ornothing approach, deciding that because more of SIP's costs are incurred in Tacoma than in any other single jurisdiction—even though the proportion is undisputedly less than half, CP 114-23, 235-38, 613-15, 635, —every dollar of service income

_

⁹ The double counting occurs because payroll, which is already accounted for in the payroll factor, constituted more than 90 percent of the costs of performance that the City used to deem service income in Tacoma when calculating the service income factor. CP 231, 548-49; *see also* Opening Br. at 15 (conceding that "direct labor costs" are one component of "costs of performance").

generated *anywhere* is deemed in Tacoma. That is unconstitutional as applied to SIP, and to any other taxpayer with a geographically broad footprint.

It can hardly be called apportionment, particularly for geographically dispersed taxpayers, to allocate 100 percent of service income to whatever jurisdiction hosts a bare plurality of the taxpayer's costs. It should come as little surprise, then, that courts reject all-or-nothing apportionment. The Tennessee Supreme Court, for instance, agreed that an all-or-nothing method is an unreasonable approach to allocating business activity because it does not fairly reflect business activity in Tennessee. Vodafone Americas Holdings, Inc. & Subsidiaries v. Roberts, 486 S.W.3d 496, 526-27 (Tenn. 2016); see also Corp. Exec. Bd. Co. v. Va. Dep't of Tax'n, 297 Va. 57, 66, 822 S.E.2d 918 (2019) (noting that the all-or-nothing, costs of performance method of apportionment "has faced mounting criticism" and was adopted "against the backdrop of an economy dominated"

by mercantile and manufacturing enterprises" (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).

The Tennessee Supreme Court, like other courts, framed its analysis in terms of fairness rather than constitutionality because the party seeking the adjustment was the taxing jurisdiction and it sought adjustment as a statutory rather than constitutional right. Courts find the all-or-nothing approach unfair for the same reason it is unconstitutional here: it would allocate all of the taxpayer's service income to a single jurisdiction.¹⁰

That is where the leading treatise on state taxation has observed that "when the services [at issue] involve the expenditure of substantial amounts of time or costs in more than one state," the all-or-nothing approach "often produces capricious and inequitable results." Hellerstein, *State Taxation*

¹⁰ Similarly, an unconstitutionally distortive apportionment provision also fails to fairly reflect the taxpayer's activity, requiring adjustment pursuant to RCW 35.102.130(3)(d).

¶ 9.18[3][a]. Here, the all-or-nothing approach was unconstitutionally distortive.

2. The Court of Appeals' construction of the balance of the statute exacerbates the constitutional problem.

The unconstitutional disparity arises not because SIP's business is idiosyncratic, but because of the gloss the Court of Appeals placed on the statute, which replicates the problem as to countless geographically dispersed taxpayers.

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