# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/27/2022 10:37 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100907-1

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SOUND INPATIENT PHYSICIANS, INC.,

Appellant,

٧.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM C. FOSBRE, City Attorney

DEBRA E. CASPARIAN
WSB #26354
Attorney for Respondent
Tacoma City Attorney's Office
747 Market Street, Suite 1120
Tacoma, Washington 98402
(253) 591-5885

#### **

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

CP 565. SIP's Accountant Manager said that SIP "does not track expenses by location and therefore we do not have this information available." CP 645.

Tacoma requested records, reviewed what was provided, and determined that since SIP is not taxable in other locations, the fairest way to calculate service income in Tacoma was to use "costs of performance."

SIP argues that because it met occasionally with customers outside Tacoma for meals, between 0.0% and 0.15% of its service income over 2013-17 should be used in the apportionment formula to determine taxable income. CP 204. SIP asserts that if one SIP employee had one dinner with 11 of its customers' employees, then that counts as 11 customer contacts. CP 508-509, 512-513.

No record exists about the purpose of the meal, what work was performed during the meal, or how long it lasted. CP 515.

Because of SIP's position that virtually no service income should be apportioned to Tacoma, SIP appealed the assessment and requested a refund of \$964,766 for taxes paid in 2013 through 2017. CP 412, 557.

### F. <u>SIP did not meet its burden and the Hearing</u> Examiner affirmed Tacoma's position.

The Hearing Examiner affirmed Tacoma's position and found that it appropriately apportioned SIP's income. CP 650-665. The Hearing Examiner found that SIP did not meet its heavy burden of proving the tax assessment was incorrect. CP 663.

### G. The superior court reversed but the Court of Appeals affirmed the Examiner.

The superior court reversed. CP 771-772. Tacoma appealed the superior court's decision, and the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court, agreeing with the

Hearing Examiner. See Sound Inpatient, -- P.3d ---, 2022 Wn. App. LEXIS 769.

#### IV. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW.

Tacoma requests this Court to deny SIP's petition for review. SIP argues that review should be accepted by this Court because: (1) the decision is in conflict with a published decision of Division I, (2) a significant question of law under the United States Constitution is involved, and (3) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b). None of these apply.

#### A. General business and occupation tax law.

#### 1. Business and Occupation taxes.

Business and occupation (B&O) taxes are assessed for the privilege of conducting business in a taxing jurisdiction. *Ford Motor Co. v. City of Seattle*, 160 Wn.2d 32, 44, 156 P.3d 185 (2007). Like 47 cities in Washington State, Tacoma imposes a B&O tax on those engaging in

business in Tacoma. CP 810. Tacoma Municipal Code (TMC) 6A.30.<sup>2</sup> For SIP, the tax is measured, or based upon, the gross income of the business. TMC 6A.30.050.A.9.

#### 2. Tax apportionment generally.

The commerce clause of the United States Constitution requires state and local taxes to be fairly apportioned so that the tax is imposed only on the portion of income reasonably attributed to the taxpayer's in-state activities. *Goldberg v. Sweet*, 488 U.S. 252, 261, 109 S. Ct. 582, 102 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1989). The United States Supreme Court has "long held that the Constitution imposes no single [apportionment] formula on the States..." *Id.*, 488 U.S. at 261. States have wide latitude in the selection of apportionment formulas. *Moorman Mfg*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The City is relying on the TMC 6A.30 in effect during the audit period. (A copy of the pertinent TMC in effect during the audit period is attached for the Court's convenience.)

Co. v. Bair, 437 U.S. 267, 274, 98 S. Ct. 2340, 57 L. Ed. 2d 197 (1978).

For example, in determining B&O tax due to the state of Washington, the state Legislature chose a "single factor" formula. That is, a taxpayer looks at one factor—the receipts factor—to determine a percentage, which is then multiplied by the taxpayer's "apportionable income." RCW 82.04.462. The result is the amount taxable by the state of Washington. *See also, Moorman Mfg.*, 437 U.S. at 276 (recognizing that some states use a three-factor formula (property, payroll and sales), but another state uses a single factor (sales) formula).

For local jurisdictions, the Washington State Legislature chose a two-factor formula. In 2003, the Legislature enacted RCW 35.102, "Municipal business and occupation tax," outlining how cities allocate and apportion

gross income for B&O tax purposes.<sup>3</sup> To fairly determine the amount of taxable income within a taxing jurisdiction, the state Legislature generally requires that a business' gross income apportioned by using two factors—a payroll factor plus the service-income factor, all divided by two, and then multiplied by the income to be apportioned. RCW 35.102.130(3); TMC 6A.30.077.F. Both factors look at payroll and service income in Tacoma, as compared to everywhere else. RCW 35.102.130(3)(a) and (b). The two factors work together to fairly apportion income to a city. The more service income or payroll apportioned *outside* a city, the less of a taxpayer's income is apportioned to the city, which means a lower B&O tax.

The parties do not dispute the "payroll" factor in Tacoma. Tacoma payroll factor ranges from 50.86% in

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A copy of RCW 35.102.130 in effect during the audit period is attached for the Court's convenience.

2013 to 26.38% in 2017, more than any other single office. CP 73.

The issue is about the numerator in "service-income" factor, which is the amount of "service income in the city." RCW 35.102.130(3)(b) provides a list and states, "service income is in the city" if:

- (i) The customer location is in the city; or
- (ii) The income-producing activity is performed in more than one location and a greater proportion of the service-income-producing activity is performed in the city than in any other location, based on costs of performance, and the taxpayer is not taxable at the <u>customer location</u>; or
- (iii) The service-income-producing activity is performed within the city, and the taxpayer is not taxable in the <u>customer location</u>.

(Emphasis added). "Customer location" means "the city,,, where the majority of the contacts between the taxpayer and the customer take place." RCW 35.102.130(4)(d). The central dispute is whether subsection (i) or subsection

(ii) applies. Tacoma believes the "costs of performance" method applies to fairly apportion SIP's income.<sup>4</sup>

"Costs of performance" in RCW 35.102.130(3)(b)(ii) is not defined. "When a technical term is used in its technical field, the term should be given its technical meaning by using a 'technical rather than a general purpose dictionary' to resolve the term's definition." *Tingey v. Haisch*, 159 Wn.2d 652, 658, 152 P.3d 1020 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In addition to the list cited above in RCW 35.102.130(3)(b), the state Legislature recognized that those provisions might not address every situation to fairly apportion income. Referred to as a "catchall" to help determine apportionment in a way that is fair. *City of Seattle v. KMS Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 12 Wn.App. 2d 491, 506-07, 459 P.3d 359 (2020) (*KMS II*). RCW 35.102.130(3)(c) continues to provide options to fairly apportion income:

<sup>&</sup>quot;If the allocation and apportionment provisions of this subsection do not fairly represent the extent of the taxpayer's business activity in the city or cities in which the taxpayer does business, the taxpayer may petition for, or the tax administrators may jointly require, in respect to all or any part of the taxpayer's business activity, that one of the following methods be used jointly by the cities to allocate or apportion gross income, if reasonable:

a. Separate accounting;

b. The use of a single factor;

c. The inclusion of one or more additional factors that will fairly represent the taxpayer's business activity in the city; or

d. The employment of any other method to effectuate an equitable allocation and apportionment of the taxpayer's income.

According to the Multistate Tax Commission,<sup>5</sup> the "costs of performance" means:

[D]irect costs determined in a manner consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in accordance with accepted conditions of practices in the trade of business of the taxpayer to perform the income producing activity which gives rise to the particular item of income.

CP 809.

SIP did not track expenses for any of its locations. CP 645. As a result, Tacoma had to determine how to calculate fairly the costs SIP paid to perform its services in Tacoma. Tacoma used four factors to calculate the costs of performance: (1) direct labor costs, (2) facility lease expense, (3) facility other expense, and (4) depreciation. CP 548-49, 563. Using the "costs of performance" method, if more income producing activity occurred in one city than

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Multistate Tax Commission (MTC) is an intergovernmental state tax agency working on behalf of states and taxpayers to facilitate the equitable and efficient administration of state tax laws that apply to multistate and multinational enterprises. It created a Multistate Compact, of which Washington is a party. See RCW 82.56; <a href="http://www.mtc.gov/The-Commission/Member-States">http://www.mtc.gov/The-Commission/Member-States</a>. The MTC is viewed as "a single, established authority" related to interstate tax issues. *United States Steel Corp. v. Multistate Tax Comm'n*, 434 U.S. 452, 488, 98 S. Ct. 799, 54 L. Ed. 2d 682 (1978).

any other single location (and the taxpayer is not taxable at the customer location) then the "service income factor" is 100%. The service-income factor is then used in the two-factor apportionment formula, including the payroll factor, to determine that amount of taxable income in Tacoma.<sup>6</sup>

"[T]here is no legitimate dispute that cost apportionment, if done properly, is a constitutional method for determining that portion of a company's income derived from in-city activities for purposes of calculating B&O taxes." *Avanade, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn. App. 290, 300-301, 211 P.3d 476 (2009), citing to *Okla. Tax Comm'n v. Jefferson Lines, Inc.*, 514 U.S. 175, 186, 115 S. Ct. 1331, 131 L. Ed. 2d 261 (1995).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> SIP states that the City is "double counting" payroll because the City uses "direct labor costs" in the service income calculation. Petition for Review, p. 18. If the City did not use "direct labor costs" in the service income calculation, SIP's taxable income to Tacoma would *increase* dramatically. Instead of the "costs of performance" in Tacoma ranging from 53.41% in 2013 to 27.07% in 2017, the "costs of performance" percentage in Tacoma increases to 100% in 2013, 98.6% in 2014, 77.6% in 2015, 59.0% in 2016, and 52.6% in 2017. CP 563. (To perform this calculation, the City removed any "Payroll—Business Colleagues," added the remaining categories, and divided by 3. See CP 563.)

With that general backdrop of the law, the issue before the Court of Appeals was how to determine SIP's "service-income in the city" during the tax period at issue (2013-2017).

## B. There is no conflict with Division I of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals' decision specifically states that its "opinion is not inconsistent with Division One's holding" in *Wedbush Sec., Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 189 Wn. App 360, 358 P.2d 422 (2015). *Sound Inpatient,* at 12. Because Division I's case was based on totally different facts, Division II also found that the *Wedbush* decision "has limited persuasive value on the issue being decided here." *Id.* at 13.

In *Wedbush*, as the Court here noted, Division I was addressing a situation in which the "majority of contact with customers occurs through the telephone and the Internet." *Wedbush*, at 362. Division I addressed whether customer

locations were determined by physical contacts or something else. *Id.* at 364-65. Because Division I was not addressing whether isolated physical contacts prevented Tacoma from being able to apportion service income in the city, the *Wedbush* opinion not only has limited persuasive value on the issues being decided here, but is consistent with the Court's decision in this case. There is no conflict.

Tacoma's Hearing Examiner agreed:

SIP takes the *Wedbush* court's emphasis on physical contacts and conflates it into more than it was intended to be creating almost the reverse situation analyzed in *Wedbush*. SIP contends that if there are physical contacts, and those physical contacts are outside the city, then *de facto*, no income is attributable to the city. This is neither what the statute actually says, nor is it what *Wedbush* holds... That approach would also render clauses (b)(ii) and (b)(iii) meaningless or superfluous, violating the cardinal rule of statutory construction that requires the construction of the enactment as a whole, giving effect to *all* language used.

CP 661.

The decisions in *Wedbush* and *Sound Inpatient* are not in conflict; they merely apply the apportionment

formulas in a fair way under different facts. As this Court has noted: "Where the literal words of a court opinion appear to control an issue, but where the court did not in fact address or consider the issue, the ruling is not dispositive and may be reexamined.... 'An opinion is not authority for what is not mentioned therein and what does not appear to have been suggested to the court by which the opinion was rendered." *In re Pers, Restraint of Stockwell*, 179 Wn.2d 588, 600, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014) citing to *Etco, Inc. v. Dep't. of Labor & Indus.*, 66 Wn. App. 302, 307, 831 P.2d 1133 (1992). As a result, the decision in this case does not conflict with *Wedbush*.

# C. Because SIP did not maintain adequate records, it cannot prove this case presents a significant question of constitutional law.

SIP's hyperbole (of a "233% percent increase") to argue that a significant constitutional question arises in this case is unpersuasive. Without adequate records, SIP cannot show that Tacoma's apportionment analysis "leads

to a grossly distorted result" by "clear and convincing evidence." *Moorman Mfg.*, 437 U.S. at 274 (internal citations omitted).

The Court recognized SIP's failure to maintain appropriate records to *prove* a constitutional violation:

The City calculated the cost of performance based on information that SIP provided and reached its 100 percent determination primarily based on SIP's failure to track expenses by location. Because SIP has failed to produce evidence showing that its costs of performance and resulting income-producing activity are performed in a greater proportion outside of the city, it cannot meet its burden to show that the city's tax apportionment is externally inconsistent as applied to its business.

Sound Inpatient, n. 6. As a result, Tacoma's assessment is rational and SIP could not meet its burden of proving a constitutional violation. See Woods v. Seattle's Union Gospel Mission, 197 Wn.2d 231, 239 (2021) (holding that the party challenging constitutionality bears the burden of proving a statute, as applied, is unconstitutional).<sup>7</sup>

19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> SIP has the burden to show that the B&O tax assessment is incorrect. *Ford*, 160 Wn.2d at 41. Moreover, this Court has opined that, when construing a tax

Even if it did have adequate records, there is still no significant question of constitutional law. One factor courts consider when analyzing whether a tax statute is in accordance with the federal Commerce Clause is whether the tax is "externally consistent." External consistency looks to the economic justification for the value taxed, to discover whether a tax reaches beyond that portion of value fairly attributable to economic activity within its jurisdiction. Gen. Motors Corp. v. City of Seattle, 107 Wn. App. 42, 58, 25 P.3d 1022 (2001) (quoting Okla. Tax Comm'n, 514 U.S. at 185 (1995)). "There must be a 'rational relationship between the income attributed to the state and the intrastate value' of the business being taxed." KMS Fin. Servs., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 135 Wn. App. 489,

\_

ordinance, a "court gives considerable deference to the construction of" the challenged ordinance "by those officials charged with its enforcement." *Ford*, 160 Wn.2d at 42. Additionally, "issues such as which accounting standard is more accurate are more properly the province of the tax authority than of the courts." *Avanade*, 151 Wn. App. at 299.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> SIP appears to have abandoned its "internal consistency" argument since it did not argue it in its Petition for Review.

504-5, 146 P.3d 1195 (2006) (citations omitted). The external consistency test focuses on the "real possibility of multiple taxation." *Gen. Motors Corp.*, 107 Wn. App. at 61.

There is no possibility of multiple taxation. SIP does not pay gross receipts taxes anywhere other than in Tacoma and to the state of Washington. CP 95.

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